### **FILED**

SEP 30 2016

WASHINGTON STATE (1505) - (U)
Washington Supreme Court
Washington Supreme Court (Div. 1) No. 73495-4-I
King County Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-23972-0 SEA

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NIKOLAY BELIKOV, a married individual; TECHNO-TM ZAO, a Russian closed joint stock company,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

Sep 2016 Court Appeals

State of Washington

MARYANN HUHS and ROY E. HUHS, JR., and the marital community thereof; R-AMTECH INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Washington corporation; TECHNO-TM, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; SUNCADIA PROPERTIES, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Defendants/Appellants.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Does a judgment debtor have any rights in an involuntary receivership? Here, judgment debtors were denied their most fundamental of rights, including a right to appeal the judgment that forced them into receivership, and their constitutionally-guaranteed homestead exemption. This Court should accept review to address unresolved questions of receivership law.

## II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Defendants/judgment debtors/appellants the Huhses petition the Court, pursuant to RAP 13.4, for review of the Court of Appeals' Ruling dated August 29, 2016<sup>1</sup>. That Ruling affirmed the trial court's Order Granting Receiver's Motion to Compromise Claim dated June 1, 2015 (the "Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal").<sup>2</sup>

The Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal allowed a receiver to dismiss the Huhses' defensive appeal,<sup>3</sup> over the Huhses' objections, of the trial court's judgment ("the Appeal"), as if it were an item of receivership estate property, in settlement of the judgment the trial court awarded

<sup>2</sup> Appendix 2.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1

51552445.1

Appendix 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The term "defensive appeal" is used as opposed to an appeal wherein an appellant seeks recovery of assets in the appellate courts after losing at trial. The Huhses' appeal sought only to demonstrate error in the judgment against them, and to have that judgment reversed.

plaintiff/respondent Nikolay E. Belikov ("Belikov"). It also refused to enforce the Huhses' constitutional right to a homestead exemption.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A) May an RCW 7.60.025 receiver, with the authority of a trial court's order, direct the Court of Appeals to dismiss a judgment debtor's defensive appeal over the judgment debtor's objections?
- B) May a trial court deny judgment debtors in receivership their constitutionally guaranteed right to a homestead exemption when a receiver enters into a settlement with a judgment creditor over the judgment debtor's objections?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Trial Court Judgment, Receivership and Appeal

On August 12 and September 10, 2014, the trial court entered judgments awarding Belikov \$900,000 in attorneys' fees against the Huhses, and ownership of defendant/judgment creditor R-Amtech International, Inc. ("R-Amtech"); an award in favor of R-Amtech against the Huhses of \$3,112,329.00 in damages; and other damages awards.

The Huhses appealed the judgment to the Court of Appeals. The Appeal was entirely defensive, as the Huhses did not seek to recover any damages in it. Having insufficient financial resources, the Huhses were unable to post supersedeas security pursuant to RAP 8.1. Belikov

commenced enforcement proceedings. On Belikov's motion, the trial court placed the Huhses in involuntary receivership under RCW 7.60.025, with the appointment of Belikov's selected receiver.

Belikov drafted, and the trial court signed without edit, the Order Appointing General Receiver dated January 23, 2015 ("the Receivership Order").<sup>4</sup> The Receivership Order provides that Belikov is ultimately responsible for the receiver's fees and receivership costs.<sup>5</sup> Only Belikov and R-Amtech filed RCW 7.60.210 proofs of claim in the receivership.

> 2. Receiver's and Belikov's "Settlement" of Belikov's Judgment and Receiver's Motion to Enforce **Compromise**

Belikov and the receiver then entered into a "settlement agreement" whereby Belikov's judgment against the Huhses would be "settled" in exchange for the receiver, on behalf of the Huhses, dismissing the Appeal, and transferring ownership of the Huhses' real property consisting of their home ("the Mercer Island Property") to Belikov.

The receiver filed with the trial court General Receiver's Motion for Order Authorizing Compromise of Claim dated April 9, 2015, seeking court authority for the receiver to accept Belikov's proposed settlement.<sup>6</sup> The premise of the Receiver's Motion was that acceptance of settlement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appendix 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id.*, at 11, para. 2.35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> General Receiver's Motion for Order Authorizing Compromise of Claim, Appendix 4, at 5.

terms Belikov proposed are in the best interests of the receivership estate, as the Appeal has no merit, i.e., that "[t]he Receiver, as the holder of the Huhses' claims on appeal, ... has determined that "the likelihood of a successful appeal and re-trial is small..."

The trial court granted the Receiver's Motion by the Order

Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal<sup>8</sup> over the Huhses' opposition, ruling as follows:

The Receiver has reviewed the issues that the Debtors have raised on appeal, and has concluded that even if the result was a re-trial to a jury, it is unlikely that the outcome would be any different given the Huhs' damaging testimony during their first trial that would be offered against them in a subsequent trial.<sup>9</sup>

The Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal approved Belikov's settlement terms, and authorized the receiver to dismiss the Appeal regardless of the Huhses' wishes to continue with it. The Huhses appealed the Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal to the Court of Appeals.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* at 9. The receiver, in league with Belikov's attorneys, makes this self-serving conclusion without the benefit of experienced, disinterested appellate counsel, having never obtained the opinion of independent counsel regarding the strengths and weaknesses of the Appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appendix 2.

<sup>9</sup> *ld.* at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Appellate proceedings in this matter have been complex. Briefly, the Huhses sought to stay enforcement of the Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal to the Court of Appeals by way of an emergency RAP 17.4(b) motion. The Court of Appeals' Commissioner denied the motion on the ground the Huhses had not posted supersedeas security in the amount of the full judgment. In response to the Huhses' second RAP 17.4(b) motion, the Commissioner determined that the Huhses could post the Mercer Island Property as adequate supersedeas security pending the Court of Appeals' ruling on the motion to stay enforcement, and directed the Huhses to deposit with the trial court the title to that

#### 3. Transfer of Property Ownership and Courts' Non-Enforcement of Homestead Exemption

The receiver filed with the trial court Receiver's Motion for Order to Release and Record Deeds of Trust ("Receiver's Motion to Transfer Mercer Island Property"). That motion asked the trial court to release to the receiver the deed to the Mercer Island Property, which the Court of Appeals' Commissioner had ordered the Huhses to deposit with the trial court, so that the receiver could record it.

The Huhses opposed the Receiver's Motion to Transfer Mercer Island Property on several grounds, one of which was that it ignored the Huhses' right to a \$125,000 homestead exemption. Neither the receiver nor Belikov submitted to the trial court any argument as to why the homestead exemption should not apply. Nonetheless, the trial court granted Receiver's Motion to Transfer Mercer Island Property without application or other consideration of the homestead exemption.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order by its August 29, 2016 Ruling.

property. Commissioner's Notation Ruling dated June 17, 2015, Appendix 5. The Huhses did so. On July 7, 2015, the Court of Appeals concurrently denied (without substantive analysis in the Ruling) the Huhses' RAP 17.7 motion to stay enforcement of the Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal and granted Belikov's RAP 18.2 Motion to Dismiss Appeal. The Huhses sought this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' denial of the RAP 17.7 motion, but review was denied.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 5

51552445.1

#### V. ARGUMENT

This petition seeks review of lower court rulings which address two primary issues of law that have received little or no judicial attention in Washington. In summary, this Court should clarify the scope of a receiver's authority to bargain away (1) a judgment debtor's right to a defensive appeal; and (2) a judgment debtor's constitutionally guaranteed right to a homestead exemption.

#### 1. Acceptance of Review

This Court should accept review based on substantial public interests and constitutional issues. The lower court rulings empower a plaintiff who obtained judgments against impecunious defendants to force his judgment debtors into involuntary receivership, and then force them to dismiss their defensive appeal of the plaintiff's judgment, with loss of their homestead exemption, as part of a court-ordered settlement in the receivership. Absent contrary law, these and future similar rulings could enable and encourage powerful litigants to follow Belikov's and the receiver's actions. Future judgment debtors could be deprived of their appellate and homestead rights through receiverships.

The underlying record demonstrates there is a dearth of
Washington law issued in the last several decades governing the purpose
and scope of receivership. Receiverships and homestead exemption

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6

51552445.1

claims arise with sufficient frequency that the Court's attention to them is warranted.

#### i. Appellate Courts' Exclusive Appellate Authority

A forced settlement depriving the Huhses of their right to a defensive appeal, i.e., an appeal to *avoid* liability by reversing a judgment, would deprive the Huhses of due process. Under RCW 2.06.030, the appellate "court shall have exclusive appellate jurisdiction in all cases except [irrelevant exceptions]." By issuing the Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal, the trial court effectively reviewed the propriety of its own judgment, and issued a final determination that it was without merit.

A receiver's power to dismiss an appeal against the wishes of a judgment debtor whose property he administers; and the Court of Appeals' denial of the Huhses' right to appeal, are issues of substantial public interest that this Court should consider. They apparently have not been addressed in Washington jurisprudence to date.

Homestead is a constitutionally guaranteed right. A receiver's capacity to bargain that right away, as the lower courts would have it, is contrary to the precepts of our Constitution.

This matter presents the Court with an opportunity to define the nature and extent of receivership powers in a particularly compelling

context. Minimal Washington law evaluates the powers of receivers. The Court of Appeals' dismissal of the Appeal at the trial court's direction, with loss of the Huhses' right to a homestead exemption, is a violation of the Huhses' right to due process, and is an issue of substantial public interest. It therefore is a basis for the Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

#### ii. Appellate Authority

Public policy should be considered before courts empower a judgment creditor to impose involuntary receivership on a judgment debtor, and then force dismissal of the judgment debtor's defensive appeal as part of a forced "settlement." A trial court has determined that an appeal should be dismissed on the basis it has no merit. The contemplated dismissal was directed by a receiver in an involuntary receivership created, financed, and controlled by the judgment creditor.

Appeal is the exclusive domain of courts of appeal, and one that should be fastidiously protected to preserve the system's integrity. If trial courts, through their agents (receivers), may dismiss appeals based on unilateral conclusions an appellant's "best interests," appellants lose the protection of the appellate system, and courts of appeal are usurped of their authority. This Court should accept review to avoid such

circumstances, and to protect a substantial public interest, under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### 2. The Huhses' Right to Appeal is Not Estate "Property"

The trial court did not properly give the receiver control of the Huhses' defensive appeal as "Property" of the estate. If the Appeal is not "Property," then the receiver may not use it as a settlement bargaining chip, because it would not be within his control. Appeal of the judgment is not within the Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal's definition of "Property." RCW 7.60.005(9) defines the term as follows:

"Property" includes all right, title, and interests, both legal and equitable, and including any community property interest, in or with respect to any property of a person with respect to which a receiver is appointed, regardless of the manner by which the property has been or is acquired. "Property" includes any proceeds, products, offspring, rents, or profits of or from property in the estate. ...

This definition cannot be interpreted to include the right to litigate through defensive appeal a claim *against* the property of the estate. No authority holds appeal of an adverse judgment as property of an estate. RCW 7.60.060(e) is stated in terms of a receiver's "power to assert rights, claims, or choses in action," but not defenses to claims.

#### 3. Homestead Exemption

Article XIX, §1, of the Washington Constitution states: "The legislature shall protect by law from forced sale a certain portion of the

homestead and other property of all heads of families." As this Court has held:

The homestead exemption statutes are based upon Art. 19, § 1 of the state constitution. We have held in a plethora of decisions that the homestead statutes are favored in the law and should be liberally construed. [citation omitted]. They do not protect the rights of creditors; they are in derogation of such rights. [citation omitted]. 11

Under no circumstances should conveyance to Belikov of the Mercer Island Property be allowed without his prior payment to the Huhses of \$125,000.00, representing their homestead exemption. Per RCW 6.13.070, "...the homestead is exempt from attachment *and from execution* or forced sale *for the debts of the owner* up to the amount specified in RCW 6.13.030 [emphasis added]." The term "execution," per RCW 6.17.060, includes the circumstances of the trial court's Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal:

There shall be three kinds of executions: First, against the property of the judgment debtor; second, for the delivery of the possession of real or personal property or such delivery with damages for withholding the same; and third, commanding the enforcement of or obedience to any other order of the court [emphasis added].

The Huhses are guaranteed a homestead exemption. Typically in judgment enforcement proceedings, a forced sale of the property would occur, with the first \$125,000.00 of sales proceeds being transferred to the

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

51552445.1

<sup>11</sup> Webster v. Rodrick, 64 Wn.2d 814, 816, 394 P.2d 689 (1964).

judgment debtor. The unorthodox mechanism of a forced "settlement," executed by a receiver with a judgment creditor at the judgment creditor's instance, should not be allowed to subvert the purpose of the homestead exemption, or deprive the judgment debtor of constitutional and statutory rights. As the "settlement agreement" contemplates transfer to Belikov of the Mercer Island Property, as opposed to an execution sale of that property, the only workable approach to enforcement of the homestead exemption is Belikov's direct payment of it to the Huhses.

Belikov did not reply to or otherwise address in any way the Huhses' homestead claim in trial court proceedings. Thus, all arguments he presented to the Court of Appeals should have been barred under RAP 2.5(a), and are unsupported by the record on appeal. "Failure to raise an issue before the trial court generally precludes a party from raising it on appeal."

Belikov argued to the Court of Appeals that the Huhses "failed to timely raise a right to homestead to the trial court, and they failed to that [sic] establish that their Declaration of Homestead is valid." This is factually inaccurate and legally irrelevant. The Huhses need not do either to enjoy this constitutional right. Regarding the homestead statute, RCW

<sup>12</sup> Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983) citing Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co., 91 Wn.2d 230, 240, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978) and RAP 2.5(a).

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 11

51552445.1

6.13.040, "[s]ince 1981, homestead protection is 'automatic' and protects property owners from the time the real property is occupied as a principal residence." A homestead declaration is not at all necessary in these circumstances, RCW 6.13.040 requiring them only in instances wherein "the homestead is unimproved or improved land that is not yet occupied as a homestead" and "if the homestead is a mobile home not yet occupied as a homestead and located on land not owned by the owner of the mobile home." As this Court has held:

Homestead allowance enjoys a high priority under Washington law, as it does in other jurisdictions. [citations omitted] We have noted in past decisions that such award allowances give an absolute right. [citations omitted] ... Absent the most clear and explicit language confirming a voluntary relinquishment of the award as a known right, a waiver will not be found. [citations omitted, emphasis added]. 15

#### 4. Court of Appeals' Ruling

The Court of Appeals' Ruling makes no substantive analysis of the issues presented herein, and affirms the trial court based on erroneous procedural determinations.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12

51552445.1

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Sweet v. O'Leary, 88 Wn. App. 199, 201, 944 P.2d 414 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The Huhses filed a homestead declaration in this instance only to have a document to show the trial court of their firm intention to claim homestead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> In re Boston's Estate, 80 Wn.2d 70, 75, 491 P.2d 1033 (1971).

#### i. Homestead Exemption

Again, this Court has ruled that "[a]bsent the most clear and explicit language confirming a voluntary relinquishment of the award as a known right, a waiver [of the homestead entitlement] will not be found." The Court of Appeals' ruling is erroneous on its face, as it finds an implicit waiver under circumstances not addressed by the parties in briefing nor opposed by the receiver in Belikov in trial court proceedings.

The Court of Appeals effectively ruled that the Huhses "waived" this right by not raising it "until after the Huhses had already agreed to have the house serve as security for the temporary stay of the order authorizing settlement – a settlement that included transfer of the Mercer Island house to Belikov as one of its terms." In other words, the Court of Appeals concluded the Huhses waived their right to a homestead exemption by not asserting it when posting supersedeas security with the trial court.

Even were it accurate that the Huhses first addressed the homestead issue with the trial court at that point, <sup>18</sup> the Court of Appeals' ruling raises questions about waiver of constitutional rights that merit this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In re Boston's Estate, 80 Wn.2d 70, 75, 491 P.2d 1033 (1971).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Appendix 1 at 7. This is not accurate. The Huhses raised the issue to the trial court on a number of occasions in motion practice well prior to their compliance with the Commissioner's supersedeas requirement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Again, it is not. The Huhses raised homestead in earlier trial court motion practice.

Court's attention. This Court's decisions regarding enforcement of the homestead exemption in the context of a constitutional right have not been revisited in recent memory.

#### ii. Improper Dismissal of Defensive Appeal

The Court of Appeals concluded that its ruling in response to an emergency RAP 17.4(b) motion had dispositive effect as to the Huhses' entire appeal. This approach eliminated the Huhses' right to monitor and protest the receiver's actions through motion practice by placing them at risk of their entire appeal being dismissed based on a motion ruling. Far different standards and considerations apply to a request for emergency relief under RAP 17.4(b) as compared to the substantive analysis an underlying appeal would require.

The Court of Appeals seems to have treated the Huhses' emergency motion as a "Motion in Brief," which RAP 17.4(d) contemplates as a motion heard within full appellate briefing to obviate consideration of the case on the merits. While the Huhses raised some of the same points in their RAP 17.4(b) motion, they did not fully brief the issues to the extent needed and appropriate for a substantive appeal. The Court of Appeals' adoption of its Commissioner's Ruling on an

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 14

51552445.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> "A party may include in a brief only a motion which, if granted, would preclude hearing the case on the merits." RAP 17.4(d).

emergency motion is no substitute for a complete appellate analysis, and should not serve as such.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

This matter presents an opportunity for the Court to address matters that affect the public interest in a variety of ways, and which have not been the subject of recent judicial attention. For the reasons presented above, the Huhses respectfully petition the Court for review of the Court of Appeals' Ruling.