RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Oct 28, 2016, 4:53 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 91979-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NIKOLAY BELIKOV, a married individual; TECHNO-TM ZAO, a Russian closed joint stock company

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

ν.

MARYANN HUHS and ROY E. HUHS, JR., and the marital community thereof; R-AMTECH INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Washington corporation; TECHNO-TM, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; SUNCADIA PROPERTIES, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Defendants/Appellants.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

V. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United State is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). The Huhses argue that this case warrants review due to "substantial public interests and constitutional issues." (Petition at 6.) The Huhses' arguments should be rejected.

A. The Court of Appeals Decided This Case on Mootness.

Absent from the Huhses' Petition is any discussion on the question of mootness, which formed the basis of the Court of Appeals decision rejecting the Huhses' challenge to the Order Approving Settlement. As the Court of Appeals stated, "[t]he relief requested by the Huhses, reinstatement of their appeal in cause no. 72334-1-I, is no longer possible" because "the issuance of the mandate deprived this court of the power to change, modify, or undo the order dismissing the appeal." (Opinion at 5.) The Court of Appeals correctly and properly concluded that the Huhses' claims for reinstatement of their appeal, was impossible. As a result, the settlement could not be undone, and therefore the appeal was moot. A

claim is moot when the court can no longer provide effective relief. Orwick v. City of Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249, 253, 692 P.2d 793 (1984).

Since the Huhses raise no challenge to the Court of Appeals' mootness determination, they have essentially conceded that reinstatement of their underlying appeal is not possible. Having made this concession, there is no reason for this Court to grant the Huhses' Petition to render what would essentially be an advisory opinion on the Huhses' moot arguments regarding the scope of the receiver's authority. This Court faces the same restrictions as the Court of Appeals on re-opening an appeal after mandate has issued. Because mandate was issued over a year ago, changing the outcome of that appeal is barred by RAP 12.7(a).

The Court of Appeals' opinion also observed that it could reconsider identical legal issues in a subsequent appeal of the same case "where the holding of the prior appeal is clearly erroneous and the application of the doctrine would result in a manifest injustice." (Opinion at 6, citing *Folson v. County of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 264, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988)). In this case, the Court of Appeals concluded that dismissal of the Huhses' appeal "was neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly unjust." (Opinion at 6.) Having made no challenge to the Court of Appeals' conclusions on these points, the Huhses must accept that there is no reason for this Court to grant review. The mootness of the Huhses' appeal of the Order Approving Settlement means that this Court would never reach the receivership authority issues raised in the Huhses' Petition.

B. No Substantial Public Interests or Constitutional Issues Are Implicated.

Even if the Huhses' appeal were not moot and otherwise unsupported (e.g., Opinion at 6), a fundamental flaw in the Huhses' Petition is the false premise that substantial public interests and constitutional issues are at stake. It is the Huhses' actions in flouting the legal consequences of the fraud and related judgments that caused the trial court to impose a receivership, not the mere existence of a plaintiff with an enforceable judgment. (Receivership Order, Petitioners' Appendix 2.). The Huhses then opted not to appeal that order. (Commissioner's Ruling, Appendix 1 at 4.) It is improper for the Huhses to attempt to raise these challenges to the Receivership Order for the first time on appeal. This Court may decline to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. *Sorrel v. Eagle Healthcare, Inc.*, 110 Wn. App. 290, 299, 38 P.3d 1024 (2002) (appellate court may decline review of issue not presented to trial court); RAP 2.5(a) ("The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court.")

The facts of this case are unique and unlikely to replicate themselves the course of receivership practice. The limited case law in this area is a reflection that these scenarios are few and far between. As these cases reflect, the public interest is not crying out for guidance on these issues because they occur so rarely and are unlikely to occur again.

The Huhses' argument that this Court's review is necessary to protect the appellate system from trial courts that "may dismiss appeals

4842-0995-7435

based on unilateral conclusions" borders on frivolous. The Court of Appeals retains authority to decide on its own whether an appeal may be dismissed under RAP 18.2. There is no trial court decision here that even suggested, let alone directed, that it had the authority to dismiss an appeal.

The Huhses also assert that rights to pursue an appeal are not "Property" within the meaning of RCW 7.60.005(9). In making this argument, they fail to state any claim that public interests or Constitutional interests are at stake. Thus, this Court should deny review because this issue does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4. Furthermore, the Huhses' assertion is incorrect as a matter of law. As Judgment Creditors have argued to this Court and the Court of Appeals, an appeal is a form of personal property and should be treated like a chose in action, which is unquestionably a form of personal property. Meltzer v. Wendell-West, 7 Wn. App. 90, 497 P.2d 1348 (1972). To read into the definition of "Property" an exception for an appeal would unreasonably tie the hands of receivers in administering estate property. The Huhses cite no legal authority that supports their assertion. The limited authority available in this area supports a receiver's right to compromise claims. See Spencer v. Alki Point Transp. Co., 53 Wash. 77, 83, 101 P. 509 (1909) (receiver may compromise claims against the Estate), cited in Commissioner's Ruling, Appendix 1 at 11; In re Croft, 737 F.3d 372, 376-77, 378 (5th Cir. 2013) (defensive appeal rights are property of debtor's Estate and saleable by bankruptcy trustee); In re Mozer, 302 B.R. 892, 895-96 (C.D. Cal. 2003) (same).

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Decided That the Huhses Did Not Timely Assert Their Homestead Claim.

The only issue not previously brought to this Court was the Huhses' homestead claim. They first raised their homestead issue to the trial court in connection with the receiver's motion asking the trial court to authorize the court clerk to perform the ministerial act of releasing the Mercer Island house deed. (Opinion at 4.) It was never raised in connection with the Huhses' opposition to the receiver's motion for court approval of the global settlement (see Judgment Debtors' Response to General Receiver's Motion for Order Authorizing Compromise of Claim, Appendix 3). After failing to mention homestead in connection with the receiver's motion to approve the settlement, the Huhses again remained silent on the question of homestead when they offered the Mercer Island house deed as security for a temporary stay. (Defendant/Judgment Debtors/Appellants Roy E. Huhs, Jr. and Maryann Huhs' Second Emergency Motion Pursuant to RAP 17.4(b) for Relief Pursuant to RAP 8.3, Appendix 5.) The Huhses' attempt to take back their security after their stay request was denied does not raise any significant constitutional or public interest issues.

The Huhses' Petition contains multiple misstatements of the record regarding their claimed homestead rights. For example:

 "It [the Order Authorizing Dismissal of Appeal] also refused to enforce the Huhses' constitutional right to a homestead exemption." Petition at 2. This statement is incorrect. The

Huhses did not raise the homestead issue when opposing the dismissal of their appeal. Consequently, the Order Approving Settlement makes no mention of the homestead exemption. The Huhses should not be permitted to raise it now. *Sorrel*, 110 Wn. App. at 299; RAP 2.5(a)

- "May a trial court deny judgment debtors in receivership their constitutionally guaranteed right to a homestead exemption when a receiver enters into a settlement with a judgment creditor over the judgment debtor's objections?" Petition at 2. As stated above, the Huhses never raised any homestead rights in their opposition to the receiver's motion to approve the settlement. (Appendix 3.) It therefore cannot be said that the trial court *denied* their homestead rights *when* the receiver entered into the settlement. *Id.*
- "The Huhses raised homestead in earlier trial court motion practice." Petition at 13, n.18. In addition to lacking any citation to the record, this statement is simply wrong and contrary to the Opinion's finding that the Huhses *had not* previously raised homestead.

The Court of Appeals' decision rejecting the Huhses' homestead claim is correct. The Order Approving Settlement included as one of its terms that the Huhses would transfer two real estate parcels—the Mercer Island house and a vacant lot at Suncadia—to Belikov in exchange for a full discharge of judgment debt and other consideration. (Petitioners Appendix 2 at 7.) The Court of Appeals affirmatively found that the Huhses "did not raise a claim of homestead when the transfer of the house to Belikov was included as a term of the settlement authorized by the trial court." (Opinion at 7.) After confirming that the order authorizing the settlement was "valid," the Court of Appeals stated, "[t]he trial court had no obligation to require Belikov to remit \$125,000 to the Huhses when signing a ministerial order to carry out the term of the settlement that required transfer of the house." (Opinion at 7.)

The Huhses could have raised their claimed homestead rights in connection with their request for a stay of the Order Approving Settlement in the Court of Appeals, but they did not. Instead, as the Court of Appeals stated, they said nothing as they "agreed to have the house serve as security for a temporary stay of the order authorizing settlement---...." (Opinion at 7.) They continue to offer no explanation as to why the value of the house as security or the value to Belikov of the settlement should be diminished by \$125,000. When presented with two obvious opportunities to assert their homestead claim, the Huhses were silent, relying on other defenses to oppose the settlement and seeking to utilize the full value of the Mercer Island house to their benefit when it was useful to do so. They cite no authority to support their position that parties may rest on their rights silently, withholding certain arguments from their pleadings, and then assert those rights after a trial court has rendered rulings in reliance on the record before it. The law is to the contrary. Sorrel, 110 Wn. App. at 299.

The Huhses cite to Sweet v. O'Leary, 88 Wn. App. 199, 201, 944 P.2d 414 (1997). But as the Court of Appeals stated, Sweet is "factually far removed from the present case." (Opinion at 7.) Sweet involved recovery of the value of homestead after a creditor recovered proceeds from a non-judicial foreclosure of a deed of trust, and the Court of Appeals rejected the creditor's argument that the homeowner "gave up all homestead rights forever" by granting a deed of trust on the debtor's homestead property. Sweet, 88 Wn. App. at 203. The reservation of homestead rights is not "automatic" such that a party may neglect to raise it in multiple court filings and then spring it on the opposing party to reduce the value of a settlement. In re Boston's Estate, 80 Wn.2d 70, 75, 491 P.2d 1033 (1971), cited by the Huhses, in fact supports the Court of Appeals' decision. Even in Boston's Estate, the Washington Supreme Court stated that it may find a waiver of homestead rights even without an express written document. Unlike the appellant in Boston's Estate, the Huhses were not unsuspecting and uninformed litigants, unaware of what homestead rights actually were. They were represented by active, private counsel, and well aware of their ability to claim homestead chose not to do so in a timely manner. The Huhses instead opted to knowingly offer their Mercer Island property without homestead to maximize its value as collateral and with it the chances that their security offering would be accepted as security in consideration of their stay request. After the security was accepted and their stay request was ultimately denied, the Hubses attempted to take back their unconditional offering by arguing

homestead. The Huhses' sharp tactics raise no constitutional issues. It is well established that "even constitutional rights can be waived by failing to utilize the machinery available for asserting them." *Henriksen v. Lyons*, 33 Wn. App. 123, 128, 652 P.2d 18, 21 (1982). That is precisely what happened here.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, Respondents respectfully request this Court deny Petitioners' Petition for Review.